162a NEW CROSS ROAD/ BESSON STREET, NEW CROSS, LEWISHAM – 

REPORT ON AN ARCHAEOLOGICAL WATCHING BRIEF


1
SUMMARY

Redevelopment of land to the rear of 162a New Cross Road was deemed to require an archaeological watching brief, due to the potential for evidence of prehistoric occupation. The brickearth horizon thought to contain this evidence was seen to be truncated across the site, indicating that if this evidence had been present, it had been lost in earlier development of the site.

2
INTRODUCTION

2.1
Site Location

2.1.1
The site is located to the rear of 162a New Cross Road and the south side of Besson Street, New Cross, in the London Borough of Lewisham. The site is centred on National Grid Reference (NGR) TQ 3572 7695, and site covers a total area of approximately 170m2. The topography of the site showed it to be generally level at 4.7m OD.
2.2
Development Proposals

2.2.1
The development involved the demolition of existing garages and the erection of three four-storey buildings with ground-level shops and flats directly above. The foundations comprised concrete ground beams, pads and associated services.
2.3
Planning Background

2.3.1
In accordance with Planning Policy Guidance: Archaeology and Planning (PPG 16, conditions 16 & 17) issued by the Department of the Environment in 1990 (DoE, 1990) and following an application for the Outline Planning Permission (Ref.: W13031/02), English Heritage requested that an Archaeological Watching Brief be carried out. This was undertaken in order to determine the potential archaeological impact to the site during development.

2.3.2
A Written Scheme of Investigation was produced, based on an advisory letter and instruction from Mark Stephenson, Greater London Archaeology Advisor to the London Borough of Lewisham 

3
ARCHAEOLOGICAL AND HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

3.1 Geology


The drift geology on site is indicted as being river-lain brick earth, overlying London Clay and the Woolwich and Reading Beds.

3.2 Archaeological Background

3.2.1
General

The site lies within an Archaeological Priority Area, as defined in the Unitary Development Plan for the Borough of Lewisham. This is due largely to the presence of prehistoric sites in the area.

3.2.2
Prehistoric

Prehistoric occupation in New Cross was largely confined to gravel islands and brickearth. Previous evaluation has been undertaken to the north of the site; this revealed surviving brickearth deposits beneath the 19th and 20th century made ground. Of particular note was work undertaken at Bramcote Lane to the north of the proposed site where a prehistoric trackway was excavated. Two phases of evaluations adjacent to the site on Kender Estate were completed in 2002. The trenches did not reveal any archaeology, but investigations did expose brickearth at 1.74mOD which had been horizontally truncated by a 19th century basement and well.
3.2.3
Roman

The main road from London to Dover and Canterbury runs through the area, providing a lasting road that is still used today.

3.2.4
Saxon
The area of New Cross was settled during the Saxon period and was known as Hatcham, the name meaning either ‘the village in the clearing’ or ‘Hacci’s village’. A map of 1619 shows that New Cross was still heavily wooded at the beginning of the 17th century. 
3.2.5

Post-medieval

During the 18th century, the old Roman road had been maintained and travellers using it had to pay tolls at the turnpike gates. The gate at Hatcham was called New Cross Gate, after the New Cross Inn, and the new name gradually replaced the old. Much of the land became market gardens in the 19th century, and only began to be heavily built up from the 1870s, when the Haberdashers’ Company laid out their estate to the south of the subject site.
4
AIMS OF THE INVESTIGATION

4.1
The general aim of the Watching Brief was to determine the location, extent, date, character, condition, significance and quality of any surviving archaeological remains liable to be threatened by the proposed development. This applies to remains of all periods, and includes evidence of past environments.

4.2

Specific aims were:

· To record the extent level and survival of any brickearth deposits on the site. 

· To establish whether there is any evidence of archaeological activity on the site, particularly prehistoric.

4.3
The evaluation sought to clarify the nature and extent of existing disturbance and intrusions, in order to assist in an assessment of the degree of the archaeological survival of buried deposits and surviving structures of archaeological significance.
4.4
The final aim will be to make public the results of the archaeological work.

5
STRATEGY

5.1
A site code (NCO 04) was obtained from the London Archaeological Archive Research Centre (LAARC).

5.2
Three areas were monitored to give an overview of the extent of archaeological survival. This encompasses seven pad foundations and gave the opportunity of examining relatively large areas rather than small slots. Trench 1 was located near the rear of the standing buildings of 162a New Cross Road, Trench 2 in the centre of the site and Trench 3 at the western edge.
5.3
The field evaluation comprised of the mechanical excavation of the trenches under archaeological supervision to the top of the expected brickearth deposits, whereupon the surface of the brickearth was hand-cleaned to identify any archaeological deposits or features. Further excavation to the required formation level was also monitored. 
5.4
A full written record was completed for all the trenches. Context numbers were allocated to each deposit, and heights for each context were established relative to Ordnance Datum (OD). This was achieved by using a benchmark transferred onto site by the building contractors, situated on the southern exterior wall of the adjacent site (5.70mOD).

5.5
 All of the work was carried out in line with Archaeological Guidance Paper (AGP): 3, Standards and Practices in Archaeological Fieldwork (English Heritage June 1998). The work was monitored by Mark Stevenson (English Heritage Advisor to the London Borough of Sutton). 

6
RESULTS
6.1 Trench 1

Trench 1 measured 8 metres by 3 metres, and encompassed three pad foundations. The lowest deposit encountered was reddish brown clay with high gravel content (1007). This was considered firm enough to be suitable for the base of the foundations, and there was no further excavation below 2.22m OD. This was sealed by yellowish brown silty clay with occasional lenses of sand (1006), and is interpreted as brickearth: silts deposited from slow-moving water. There was no evidence of any archaeological deposits or features cutting this layer, and the surface was horizontal, at 2.62m OD. It was sealed by a thin layer of fragmentary building material (1005), thought to date to the 19th century and relating to buildings constructed on site. The lack of any topsoil or other interface between the construction deposit and the top of the brickearth strongly suggests that the brickearth had undergone horizontal truncation when the ground was prepared for erecting houses in the 19th century.
A foundation of red bricks bonded with a lime and cement mortar sat atop the construction deposit next to Besson Street; this was part of the foundation for buildings no longer extant on site. It stood for fourteen courses and was regularly built in stretcher bond. After this wall was constructed, brickearth that had been excavated in preparation for the building programme was redeposited back into the construction area (1004), and the rest of the site was made up to ground level with dark brown sandy silt (1008). This is likely to have been local to the site, perhaps a mixture of the original topsoil that had been excavated for the building’s construction. Towards the centre of the trench was a vertical sided pit 0.94m in diameter, and filled with malodorous sandy silt, so was probably a cesspit. Stratigraphically, it dates to the same period as the first evidence of housing on the site, and was therefore 19th century.
The wall of the 19th century building lies beyond the site limit, beneath the edge of the pavement of Besson Street to the north. The pavement was made from two layers of tarmac (1001 and 1002).
The depth of each deposit is presented below.

1001: - 4.34-4.27m OD
Modern tarmac of pavement adjacent to site.

1002: - 4.27-4.20m OD
Previous pavement surface

1003: - 4.20-3.17m OD
Red brick wall foundation, 14 courses surviving

1004: - 3.17-2.70m OD
Redeposited brickearth

1005: - 2.70-2.62m OD
Brick, tile and mortar: construction deposit

1006: - 2.62-2.22m OD
Brickearth

1007: - 2.22m OD

Compact clay with gravel: no further excavation

1008: - 4.14-3.17m OD
Made ground, post-construction

1009 – 3.17-2.22m OD
Area of cess pit
6.2
Trench 2
Trench 2 measured 3.80m by 2.70m metres, and holds a single pad foundation. The lowest deposit encountered was reddish brown clay with high gravel content (2007). This was considered firm enough to be suitable for the base of the foundations, and there was no further excavation below 2.20m OD. This was sealed by yellowish brown silty clay with occasional lenses of sand (2006), and is interpreted as brickearth: silts deposited from slow-moving water. There was no evidence of any archaeological deposits or features cutting this layer, and the surface was horizontal, at 2.62m OD. It was sealed by a thin layer of fragmentary building material (2005), thought to date to the 19th century and relating to buildings constructed on site. The lack of any topsoil or other interface between the construction deposit and the top of the brickearth strongly suggests that the brickearth had undergone horizontal truncation when the ground was prepared for erecting houses in the 19th century.

Above the construction deposit was a layer of brickearth that had been excavated in preparation for the building programme and redeposited back into the construction area (2004). This was sealed by a layer of household waste (2003) largely comprising oyster shell and very fragmentary sherds of Transfer-printed ware dating to the 19th or early 20th century. This may have been the remnant of topsoil. Sealing this was a thick layer of demolition material, mostly bricks, 0.62m deep (2002) that probably derived from the buildings represented by the wall foundation in Trench 1. The uppermost layer in the trench was mixed dark brown sandy silt (2001), once possibly upcast from construction of the garages that were the most recent structures on site. These had strip foundations of concrete and brick. 
The depth of each deposit is presented below.


2001: - 4.20-3.60m-OD
Made ground

2002: - 3.60-2.92m OD
Demolition material 

2003: - 3.12-3.06m OD
Household waste

2004: - 3.06-2.67m OD
Redeposited brickearth


2005: - 2.67-2.60m OD
Brick, tile and mortar: construction deposit


2006: - 2.60-2.20m OD
Brickearth


2007: -2.20m OD

Compact clay with gravel: no further excavation
6.3
Trench 3
Trench 2 measured 4.50m by 2.70m metres, and holds two pad foundations. The lowest deposit encountered was reddish brown clay with high gravel content (3006). This was considered firm enough to be suitable for the base of the foundations, and there was no further excavation below 2.00m OD. This was sealed by yellowish brown silty clay with occasional lenses of pale green sand (3005), and is interpreted as brickearth: silts deposited from slow-moving water. There was no evidence of any archaeological deposits or features cutting this layer, and the surface was horizontal, at 2.42m OD. It was sealed by a thin layer of fragmentary building material (3004), thought to date to the 19th century and relating to buildings constructed on site. The lack of any topsoil or other interface between the construction deposit and the top of the brickearth strongly suggests that the brickearth had undergone horizontal truncation when the ground was prepared for erecting houses in the 19th century.

Above the construction deposit was a layer of building material including brick, tile, mortar and household fittings deriving from demolition of a building on site, probably the building represented by the construction deposit. This was sealed by a thin layer of greenish grey sandy silt with a petrochemical odour (3003), thought to be mild contamination from the former garages on site. This was sealed by demolition of the garages was represented by a mixed deposit of brick rubble and topsoil (3002) and the uppermost layer (3001) was loose, the result of soil upcast during the current building programme. There were no finds collected from this pit: the only item observed was an electric light fitting with a plastic or bakelite cover. 

The depth of each deposit is presented below.


3001: - 4.20-4.00m-OD
Upcast from recent excavations

3002: - 4.00-3.25m OD
Demolition material

3003: - 3.25-2.95m OD
Contaminated layer

3004: - 2.95-2.82m OD
Brick, tile and mortar: construction deposit

3005: - 2.82-2.00m OD
Brickearth

3006: - 2.00m OD

Compact clay with gravel: no further excavation

:
7
FINDS

7.1 The only finds recorded during the evaluation were collected from the made ground in Trench 1 (1008) that post-dates the construction of houses on site in the 19th century. The assemblage includes Transfer-printed ware and clay tobacco pipes of 19th century date. These finds were not retained.
8 CONCLUSIONS

8.1 Despite the archaeological potential of the site no significant archaeological features were recorded in any of the trenches. 

8.2 The foundations of the most recent garages on site had brick and concrete foundations up to a metre deep. These did not intrude upon the brickearth horizon

8.3
The brick foundation recorded in Trench 1 is the wall of a building erected in the late 19th century, and preparation for these structures had had a deep impact on the underlying strata, truncating the brickearth in the horizontal plane. There were very few elements of the structures surviving; but the brick foundation seems too substantial to be only a boundary wall facing Besson Street. This is supported by the cartographic evidence that shows the whole site to have been built up in the late 19th century. This is shown in the Ordnance Atlas of London and Suburbs, published in 1888. 

8.4
The brickearth lies at a fairly horizontal level, and appears to have been truncated across most of the site. The brickearth was highest to the west of the site, at 2.82m OD, and 0.82m deep, whereas it was recorded at 2.60m OD, and was only 0.40m thick at its deepest. The truncation was caused by a 19th century building programme 
8.3 No archaeologically significant deposits, finds or features were identified during the building programme at 162a New Cross Road. The lack of any prehistoric evidence is thought to be due to truncation of the prehistoric landscape rather than a lack of occupation.
9 RECOMENDATIONS

9.1
It is the recommendation of the author and of AOC Archaeology Group that no further archaeological work is required, although the final decision must rest with Mark Stevenson of English Heritage Greater London Archaeological Advisory Service.
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